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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssi on
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABCR, CIVIL PENALTY PROCEEDI NGS
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. WEST 85-167-M
PETI TI ONER A. C. No. 05-00862-05501
V. Docket No. WEST 85-168-M

A.C. No. 05-00862- 05502
LOUKONEN BRCOS. STONE CO.,
RESPONDENT Loukonen Bros. Silica Quarry

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Robert J. Lesnick, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U S. Departnment of Labor, Denver, Col orado,
for Petitioner;
Leonard Loukonen, Loukonen Brothers Stone, Conpany,
Lyons, Col orado, pro se, for Respondent.

Bef or e: Judge Carl son

Thi s consolidated case, heard under the provisions of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U . S.C. 0801 et
seq. (the Act), arose out of inspections on July 11 and July 12,
1985, at respondent's silica pit near Lyons, Colorado. On those
dates, Lyle Marti, a federal mne inspector issued 16 citations
for alleged violations of various mandatory safety standards
promul gated by the Secretary of Labor pursuant to the Act. The
respondent, Loukonen Bros. Stone Co., contested the Secretary's
petition for inposition of civil penalties. The case was heard in
Denver, Colorado, with both parties presenting evidence. Both
parties waived the filing of briefs or other post-hearing
subm ssi ons.

GENERAL BACKGROUND

The undi sput ed evi dence shows that respondent's nmine is an
open pit silica rock mning and processing operation. The rock is
extracted by blasting and is then crushed on-site, after which it
is sold to the cement industry. The enterprise is quite small. A
partnership, its usual workforce is but three mners. These nen
alternate between mning the rock and running the crushing
operation. Most of the citations in this consolidated proceedi ng
were aimed at equi pnent used in the crushing activities.
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The business of the mine tends to be seasonal with little work
done in the winter nonths. The partnership had operated the site
since 1969.

M. Marti, the Secretary's inspector, in addition to
carrying out the ordinary duties of a mne inspector, is
certified as an electrical inspector. He testified concerning al
the alleged violations. M. Leonard Loukonen, one of the
partner's in respondent's enterprise, represented respondent.

M. Loukonen testified only briefly. He limted his remarks
al nost exclusively to background information concerning the mne
and to a brief explanation concerning the alleged electrical
violations. In this latter regard, he testified that m ne
managenent had relied upon the expertise of the manufacturers and
contractors who originally supplied the electrical equipnent and
syst ens.

M. Loukonen did not avail hinmself of his right to cross
exam ne the inspector, the Secretary's sole witness. Neither did
he present any testinony in an attenpt to rebut the Secretary's
evi dence regardi ng the existence of the alleged violations. The
respondent, that is to say, was content to remain silent
concerning the alleged violations, while putting the Secretary to
his proofs.

JURI SDI CT1 ON

To show that respondent's business activities "affected
commerce” within the nmeaning of the Act, the Secretary presented
testinmony that much of the m ning equi pment used by respondent
was manuf actured outside the State of Col orado. The testinmony was
unrebutted. | conclude that respondent's activities affected
commer ce

REVI EW AND DI SCUSSI ON OF THE
EVI DENCE RELATI NG TO ALLEGED VI OLATI ONS

Ctation No. 2358724

I nspector Marti, during his inspection of the Loukonen
operation, observed that respondent was using a front-end | oader
to carry dynamite. Wrkers had placed the dynamite in the netal
bucket of the |oader. The netal of which the bucket was
constructed was not insulated by nonconductive materials.

The inspector concluded that use of the bucket in this
fashion viol ated the mandatory safety standard published at 30
C.F.R 0[56.6047. That standard provides:

Vehi cl es used to transport expl osives, other than
bl asti ng agents, shall have substantially constructed
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bodi es, no sparking netal exposed in the cargo space,
and shall be equipped with suitable sides and tail gates;
expl osi ves shall not be piled higher than the side or end
encl osures.

The undi sput ed evi dence shows that the alleged violation
occurred.

Ctation No. 2358725

The carrying of dynamite in respondent’'s |oader also gave
rise to another alleged violation. The inspector noted that the
| oader displayed no warning signs to signify that it was carrying
expl osives. He cited respondent for failure to conmply with the
mandat ory safety standard published at 30 C.F. R [56.6043. That
standard provides:

Vehi cl es cont ai ni ng expl osives or detonators shall be
posted wi th proper warning signs.

The undi sput ed evi dence shows that the alleged violation
occurred.

Ctation No. 2358726

During his inspection the inspector saw uncovered nail heads
in the interior of the explosives magazine at respondent's pit. A
part of the construction of the magazine, the nails had not been
count ersunk, and had not been filled over with nonconductive
material. He believed the exposed netal nails were violative of
the mandatory safety standard published at 30 C. F. R [056. 6020.
That standard, as pertinent here, provides:

Magazi nes shall be -
(f) made of non-sparking materials on the inside,
i ncluding floors .

I nspector Marti maintained that the nail heads coul d conduct
static electricity or a nearby discharge of lightning into the
magazi ne encl osure. Approximately eight cases of dynamite were in
the magazine at the tinme of the inspection

The undi sput ed evi dence shows that the alleged violation
occurred.

Ctation No. 2358727

VWhen I nspector Marti exam ned the primary crusher at
respondent's pit, he observed what he believed were deficiencies
in the wooden platform attached to the west side of the crusher
He cited these deficiencies as a violation of the mandatory
safety standards published at 30 C F. R [56.11027. That standard
provi des:
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Scaffol ds and working platforns shall be of substanti al
construction and provided with handrails and maintained in good
condition. Floor boards shall be laid properly and the scaffolds
and working platfornms shall not be overl oaded. Working platforns
shal |l be provided with toeboards when necessary.

Specifically, according to the inspector's testinony, the
pl atform consisted of a single 2 x 8 inch wooden pl ank. The
pl ank was approximately 6 feet above the ground. The violative
condition, in the inspector's view, was that the handrails could
not be effective to prevent falls because they were spaced out
laterally fromthe edges of the planking six to eight inches.
Thus, should a worker nmake a mi sstep, he could easily fal
between the handrail and the edge of the plank (Tr. 4041).

I must conclude that the undi sputed testinony established
the viol ation.

Ctation No. 2358728

On the opposite side of the sane primary crusher the
i nspector saw anot her inadequate platform This one was 6 to 8
feet above the ground and gave workers access to the hopper bin
for maintenance purposes. Inspector Marti testified that a part
of the platformwas constructed of netal screen; the remai nder
consi sted of a deteriorating 2 x 8 inch wooden plank. The
pl ank, the inspector maintained, was not of the "substanti al
construction” required for platforms by 30 C F. R [156.11027.
Al so, the handrails were again so placed that a worker could
easily fall through the space between the outside edge of the
pl ank and the inside edge of the rail. The nmetal screen was al so
i nadequate for a platform according to the inspector, because it
was too |ight and weak.

The uncont ested evi dence shows a violation of 30 CF. R 0O
56.11027.

Ctation No. 2358729

On the left side of respondent's secondary crusher the
i nspector noted that an electrical control panel |ocated 8 feet
above the ground was provided with no safe neans of access. He
testified that in the event of an energency, a worker would have
to clinb up the frane of the nmachine to reach the di sconnect
switch or the other electrical conmponents. He therefore cited
respondent for violating the mandatory safety standard published
at 30 CF.R [156.11001. That standard provides:

Saf e means of access shall be provided and mai nt ai ned
to all working places.

The uncont ested evi dence shows a violation of the standard.
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Ctation No. 2358730

This citation, too, concerns an alleged falling hazard. The
i nspector testified that steps |eading fromthe primary crusher
engi ne workdeck to the primary crusher workdeck were not provided
with handrails. He cited this condition as a violation of 30
C.F.R 0[56.1102. That standard provides:

Crossovers, elevated wal kways, el evated ranps, and

stai rways shall be of substantial construction provided
wi th handrails, and maintained in good condition. \Were
necessary, toeboards shall be provided.

The steps in question varied from6 to 8 feet above the
gr ound.

The uncont ested evi dence shows a violation of the cited
st andar d.

Ctation No. 2358731

I nspector Marti testified that the working deck and
travel way around the primary crusher engine had unprotected
openi ngs | arge enough for a worker's foot to fall through. The
hol es, he stated, could cause sprains or broken bones. He
believed that this condition violated the mandatory safety
standard published at 30 C F. R [56.11012. That standard
provi des:

Openi ngs above, bel ow, or near travel ways through which
persons or materials may fall shall be protected by
railings, barriers, or covers. Were it is inpractica
to install such protective devices, adequate warning
signal s shall be install ed.

The evi dence shows that the standard was viol ated as
al | eged.

Ctation No. 2358732

According to the inspector, the guard for a flywheel and its
belt and chain drive on the east side of the primary crusher was
of insubstantial construction and did not fully cover pinch
points. Specifically, the guard had been broken | oose and bent so
that it no | onger perforned its proper function. The bottom of
the flywheel in question was about 5 feet above the ground. In
terns of the hazard presented, the inspector's chief concern was
that a worker clinbing a nearby | adder on the crusher franme could
slip and catch a hand or armin the inconpletely guarded
pi nch-point. He cited the defective guard as a violation of the
mandat ory safety standard cited at 30 C.F. R [156.14007. That
standard provides:
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Quards shall be of substantial construction and properly
mai nt ai ned.

The evi dence establishes that respondent violated the cited
st andar d.

Ctation No. 2358733

I nspector Marti noted that the drive shaft furnishing power
to the crushers was inconpletely guarded. The | arge shaft,
situated sone 3 feet above the ground, was guarded on both sides
and above, but not below Marti testified that should the
uni versal joint on the shaft break while the shaft was turning at
hi gh revol utions, the lack of guarding on the far side could
all ow the shaft to drop and whip about violently. This whipping
action, he maintained, could fragnent the inconplete guard and
hurl the fragnments considerabl e di stances. The inspector cited
the lack of a guard conpletely surrounding the shaft as a
violation of the mandatory safety standard published at 30 C.F. R
056. 14007. That standard proivdes

Guards shall be of substantial construction and
properly maintai ned.

The evi dence establishes that respondent violated the cited
standard as al | eged.

Citation No. 2358734

I nspector Marti exanm ned the generator and engi ne that
supplied electrical power to the secondary crusher and conveyor
at respondent's pit. In the course of his exam nation he found
that the 480 volt system | acked a record of testing for a proper
ground to earth. Grounding to earth is necessary, the inspector
testified, to insure that the fuses or circuit breakers in the
control panels operate properly. Qtherw se, should a notor short
out, a worker touching a piece of equi pment can becone a
conductor and suffer an electrical shock. The inspector testified
t hat Leonard Loukonen acknowl edged to himthat the effectiveness
of the ground to earth had not been tested annually or otherw se.

Marti cited the record keeping failure as a violation of the
mandat ory safety standard published at 30 C F. R [56.12028. That
standard provides:

Continuity and resistance of groundi ng systens shall be
tested i mediately after installation, repair, and

nmodi fication; and annually thereafter. A record of the
resi stance measured during the nost recent tests shal
be made avail abl e on a request by the Secretary or his
duly authorized representative.
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The evi dence shows that the testing and recordi ng standard was
vi ol ated as all eged.

Ctation No. 2358735

This citation also alleges a violation of an electrica
standard. According to the inspector, there was no ground wire in
the netal -encl osed el ectrical cable providing power to the 440
volt notors serving the secondary crusher. He testified that a
fourth wire was necessary to neet the requirenents of the
groundi ng standard published at 30 C. F. R [056.12025. That
standard provides:

Al nmetal enclosing or encasing electrical circuits
shal | be grounded or provided w th equival ent
protection. This requirenment does not apply to
battery-operated equi prent.

"Equi val ent protection,” as used in the standard, can only
mean a ground fault circuit interrupter within the system the
i nspector testified. The system had no such device.

The uncontested evi dence shows that the respondent viol ated
the cited standard.

Citation No. 2358736

This citation charges a violation of 30 C F. R [156.12025,
the sane standard cited in the citation discussed i nmedi ately
above. The inspector testified that eight nmetal electrica
encl osure boxes nmounted on the secondary crusher were not
grounded, nor were they served by a ground fault circuit
i nterrupter.

The undi sput ed evi dence establishes a violation
Citation No. 2358737

I nspector Marti noted a guarding defect on respondent's
secondary crusher. Specifically, he noted that at the end of the
di scharge belt the belt and pulley presented an unguarded
pi nch-point. Odinarily, he testified, this pinch-point would be
10 to 12 feet above ground |level and would offer no hazard to
wor kers. Because of a buildup of materials bel ow the pinch-point,
however, the miners could conceivably be caught up in the
pi nch-poi nt. The new ground | evel created by the pile of
materials was but 5 feet below the belt and pul | ey.

The inspector cited this condition as a violation of the
mandat ory safety standard published at 30 C F. R [56.14001. That
standard provides:
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Cears; sprockets; chains; drive, head, tail, and takeup
pul I eys; flywheels; couplings; shafts; sawbl ades; fan
inlets; and simlar exposed noving machi ne parts which
may cause injury to persons, shall be guarded.

The evi dence establishes the violation.
Citation No. 2358738

This citation alleges an electrical violation. According to
the inspector, the netal cover plate intended to cover a splice
box on the 440 volt generator set was m ssing. The box contains
the term nal s which connect the generator to the power cable. The
i nspector's chief concern was that rodents would enter the box
(situated only 6 inches above the ground) and cause el ectrica
shorts by gnawi ng away insulating materials.

He therefore cited respondent for violating the mandatory
safety standard published at 30 C. F. R [156.12032. That standard
provi des:

I nspection and cover plates on electrical equipnent and
junction boxes shall be kept in place at all timnes
except during testing or repairs.

The evi dence shows that the violation occurred.
Citation No. 2358739

This citation also concerns the |ack of a cover plate in
violation of 30 C F.R [56.12032. Inspector Marti testified that
t he main di sconnect box on the secondary crusher had two
uncovered openings on its left side, allow ng access to rodents,
dirt and dust. Each of these could cause an electrical fault.

The uncont ested evi dence establishes a violation of the
cited standard.

PENALTI ES

The Secretary proposes a $20.00 civil penalty for each
violation. Section 110(i) of the Act requires the Conm ssion, in
penalty determi nations, to consider the operator's size, its
negligence, its good faith in seeking rapid conpliance, its
history of prior violations, the effect of nonetary penalties on
its ability to remain in business, and the gravity of the
vi ol ati ons.

Most of these statutory elenments strongly favor the
respondent. The pit operation was quite small. A nmaxi mum of three
enpl oyees worked there, alternating between extraction and
crushing duties. The evidence shows that respondent had no
history of prior violations under the Act. The respondent's
representative acknow edge that paynment of the proposed penalties
woul d not affect the partnership's ability to remain in business.
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Concerning the gravity of the violations, the evidence was
essentially the same for all the crushing equi pment violations.
In each instance, the possibility of enployee injury was present.
The | ocations of both the nechanical and electrical defects were
such, however, that the l|ikelihood of a worker's actually com ng
into contact with themwas not great. Mreover, as the
Secretary's inspector and counsel both noted, there was no
enpl oyee exposure on the date of inspection since the crushing
operation was shut down. Simlarly, because nost of the cited
defects were in obscure |locations the respondent's negligence was
not high. In each instance | find it to have been in the
| owto-noderate range. The severity and negligence involved in
t he expl osives violations are judged to rank about equally wth
the crusher infractions. The consequences of an accidenta
detonation could be severe; the |likelihood of such an event,
however, was very | ow

On bal ance, | conclude that a nodest penalty is in order for
all violations. Based upon the record, an appropriate civil
penalty for each violation is determ ned to be $20. 00.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

Based upon the entire record herein, and in accordance wth
the factual determ nations contained in the narrative portion of
this decision, the follow ng conclusions of |aw are made:

(1) The Conmi ssion has the jurisdiction to decide this

matter.

(2) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C.F.R [56.6047 as alleged in Citation No.
2358724.

(3) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C.F.R [56.6043 as alleged in Citation No.
2358725.

(4) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C.F.R [56.6020 as alleged in Citation No.
2358726.

(5) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.11027 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358727.

(6) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.11027 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358728.

(7) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.11001 as alleged in Gtation No.

2358729.
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(8) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C.F.R [56.1102 as alleged in Citation No.
2358730.

(9) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.11012 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358731.

(10) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C.F. R [56.14007 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358732.

(11) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C.F. R [56.14007 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358733.

(12) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.12028 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358734.

(13) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.12025 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358735.

(14) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.12025 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358736.

(15) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.14001 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358737.

(16) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.12032 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358738.

(17) The respondent violated the mandatory safety standard
published at 30 C F.R [56.12032 as alleged in Gtation No.
2358739.

(18) The reasonabl e and appropriate civil penalty of each of
the violations affirned above is $20.00.

CORDER

Accordingly, all citations in this consolidated matter are
ORDERED af firmed; and respondent Loukonen Bros. Stone Conpany is
ORDERED to pay to the Secretary of Labor a total civil penalty of
$320.00 within 30 days of the date of this decision

John A. Carlson
Admi ni strative Law Judge



